**RECEIVED**

**Mar 16 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-10-00838  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001210

Jacque Lucas, Shirley Ann Lucas,  
and Daniel Simerly,

Appellants,

v.

KapStone Paper and Packaging  
Corporation, KapStone Kraft Paper  
Corporation, Safway Group  
Holdings, LLC, Easy Way Insulation  
Co., Sypris Technologies, Inc. f/k/a  
Tube-Turns Technologies Inc.,  
Thompson Construction Group, Inc.,  
and Thompson Industrial Services, LLC,

Defendants,

Of which

KapStone Paper and Packaging

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court misapplied the “alter ego” factors set forth in *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/S.C., Inc.*, 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757 (2013), by treating Defendants KapStone Paper and Packaging Corporation (“Paper”) and KapStone Kraft Paper Corporation (“Kraft”) as one.
2. Whether Kraft and KapStone Charleston Kraft, LLC (“Charleston”) are separate and distinct corporate entities rather than alter egos under the *Poch* factors.
3. Whether Paper and Charleston are separate and distinct corporate entities rather than alter egos under the *Poch* factors.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Underlying Facts

This case arises from a tragic workplace accident at a paper mill in Charleston, South Carolina that left Jacque Lucas and Daniel Simerly horrifically burned. On May 24, 2016, Lucas and Simerly were working for KapStone Charleston Kraft, LLC (“Charleston”) at a paper mill that it owned in North Charleston, South Carolina. (R. pp. 1255, 1584–97). As they were cleaning and clearing a large overhead vessel used to hold hot chemicals, the system was brought down for maintenance. (R. pp. 1255, 2573, 2577).

Ordered to open the door at the bottom of the vessel, Lucas and Simerly maneuvered below it. (R. p. 1255). Tragically, “there was [chemical] build up” in the vessel, so, when it opened, “hot black liquor rushed out and sprayed [Plaintiffs], resulting in severe burns” across large areas of their bodies. (R. pp. 2573, 2577). Both Plaintiffs were transported by life flight helicopter to the Joseph M. Still Burn Center at Doctors Hospital in Augusta, Georgia. (R. pp. 2573, 2577).

Lucas suffered third-degree chemical burns to 66% of his total body surface area from the discharge, Simerly 10%. (R. pp. 2573, 2577). Both required extensive treatment, including numerous surgical procedures, long hospital stays, debridement and grafting, occupational and physical therapy, and psychological care. (R. pp. 2573–75, 2577–79).

Plaintiffs filed worker’s compensation claims as a result of the incident and received benefits pursuant to the South Carolina Worker’s Compensation Act (“WCA”). (R. pp. 2573–79).

### II. Procedural History

After the accident, Lucas, his wife Shirley Ann Lucas, and Simerly commenced this negligence action against KapStone Paper and Packaging Corporation (“Paper”) and KapStone

Kraft Paper Corporation (“Kraft”) (collectively, “Defendants”),<sup>1</sup> among other defendants not party to this appeal. (R. pp. 1253–64, 1265–76). Paper is the sole shareholder of Kraft, and Kraft is the sole “member” of Charleston. (R. pp. 1571, 1644).<sup>2</sup> In other words, Kraft is Charleston’s corporate parent, and Paper is its corporate grandparent.

On June 8, 2017, Defendants moved to dismiss all claims against them, arguing that, as Charleston’s parent companies, the WCA immunized them from suit because Plaintiffs received benefits from their employer. (R. pp. 1250–52). Defendants subsequently filed two amended motions to dismiss to clarify that they were challenging the trial court’s subject matter jurisdiction. (R. pp. 1201–04, 1245–49). The trial court stayed merits discovery pending resolution of the jurisdictional issue, and the parties engaged in jurisdictional discovery over the next eighteen months. (R. pp. 10, 34–37). Once jurisdictional discovery concluded, Plaintiffs filed their Response to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, which included a motion to strike their corporate representative’s affidavit. (R. pp. 998–1044). The parties then filed multiple supplemental briefs, which provided more evidence and argument on the WCA issue.<sup>3</sup>

The trial court held a hearing on the motion on September 27, 2019. (R. pp. 1277–1376). On February 26, 2020, the trial court granted Defendants’ motion, reasoning that they were alter egos of Plaintiffs’ employer and therefore entitled to WCA immunity. (R. pp. 8–33). It also denied Plaintiffs’ motions to strike the corporate representative’s affidavit. (R. pp. 28–33). Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Reconsider, which the trial court denied in a short form order on August 7, 2020. (R. pp. 5–7, 96–153).

---

<sup>1</sup> The original complaint mislabeled Kraft as “KapStone Container Corporation,” a misnomer Plaintiffs later corrected. (*Compare* R. p. 1266 *with* R. p. 1254).

<sup>2</sup> Charleston was formerly known as Oak Acquisition LLC. (R. pp. 1584).

<sup>3</sup> (*See, e.g.*, R. pp. 723–872, 961–83, 296–312).

Defendants then filed a Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification of the Final Judgment. (R. pp. 84–87). The trial court granted that motion on August 26, 2020. (R. pp. 1–4). Plaintiffs filed and served a notice of appeal of the trial court’s order on their Motion to Reconsider on September 4, 2020. (R. pp. 76–77). They filed and served an amended notice of appeal on September 8, 2020, expanding the appeal to additionally include both the underlying order granting Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and the order granting Defendants’ Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification of Final Judgment. (R. pp. 38–39).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss pursuant to the exclusivity provision of the WCA. (R. pp. 31–32). This provision “precludes an employee from maintaining a tort action against an employer where the employee sustains a work-related injury.” *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/S.C., Inc.*, 405 S.C. 359, 366, 747 S.E.2d 757, 761 (2013). As such, the “determination of the employer-employee relationship for workers’ compensation purposes is jurisdictional.” *Id.* at 367. Appellate courts have “the power and duty to review the entire record and decide the jurisdictional facts in accord with the preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.*; *see also*, *e.g.*, *White v. J. T. Strahan Co.*, 244 S.C. 120, 125, 135 S.E.2d 720, 723 (1964); *Murray v. Aaron Mizell Trucking Co.*, 286 S.C. 351, 354, 334 S.E.2d 128, 129 (Ct. App. 1985). The reviewing court “is not bound by a finding of fact” of the trial court, *White*, 244 S.C. at 125, but instead must decide the jurisdictional facts based on its independent assessment of “the weight of the evidence.” *Poch*, 405 S.C. at 373. Questions of law, meanwhile, are reviewed *de novo*. *Berry v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 402 S.C. 358, 363, 742 S.E.2d 2, 4 (2013); *Swicegood v. Thompson*, 431 S.C. 130, 137, 847 S.E.2d 104, 108 (Ct. App. 2020).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Given its tremendous respect for the corporate form, South Carolina law strongly discourages veil piercing in general and in the worker's compensation context in particular. The default rule thus permits injured employees to sue their employer's parent companies even after receiving worker's compensation benefits.

*Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/S.C., Inc.*, 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757 (2013), recognizes a narrow exception to this rule for when the parent is "the alter ego of the employer-subsiary." *Id.* at 371. This exception only applies where the eight factors *Poch* identified indicate that the two entities "operate essentially as one" and "are so integrated and commingled that neither can be realistically viewed as a separate economic entity." 405 S.C. at 371, 375. Importantly, in addressing this question, courts must compare *each particular defendant* to the plaintiff's employer, to ensure that *that defendant* is truly an alter ego. They must not treat multiple defendants as one.

The trial court committed this exact error here, conflating Kraft and Paper and attributing to both defendants evidence applicable only to one. Consequently, it erroneously found that multiple *Poch* factors supported an alter ego finding as to one defendant based on evidence only relevant to the other. This legal error alone merits reversal and remand for a proper application of the *Poch* analysis.

Remand is unnecessary, however, because, on a proper application of the *Poch* factors, the "weight of the evidence" demonstrates that neither Kraft nor Paper are alter egos of Charleston. *Poch*, 405 S.C. at 373. The evidence shows that Kraft and Charleston transacted business from different locations, hired and paid their own employees, held themselves out to their employees as two separate entities, maintained separate books, accounts, and records, had distinct tax

identification numbers, and filed separate tax returns. Paper differs from Charleston in the same ways *and* engaged in a completely distinct business activity from its corporate grandchild to boot.

The operational realities therefore demonstrate that Charleston is a “separate and distinct corporate entity” from both Kraft and Paper, and no alter ego finding is warranted. The trial court’s holding to the contrary should be reversed and judgment rendered denying Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Parent companies may be held liable despite a subsidiary's payment of worker's compensation benefits.**

In *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/S.C., Inc.*, 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized that, as a “general rule,” injured employees may sue their employer’s parent company even if the employer pays worker’s compensation benefits for their injury:

A parent corporation is generally not immune from an action in tort by an injured employee of its subsidiary by virtue of the employee’s entitlement to workers’ compensation. Where an employee of a subsidiary is injured . . . and receives workers’ compensation benefits from the subsidiary, the employee may maintain an action in tort against the parent corporation even though parent and subsidiary are covered by same policy of workers’ compensation insurance.

*Id.* at 370. This rule is consistent with South Carolina law in other contexts, which disapproves of veil piercing overall and respects the corporate form in the worker’s compensation context specifically.

#### **A. The law discourages veil piercing.**

One of the most basic principles of corporate law is that “a corporation is an entity, separate and distinct from its officers and [owners], and that its debts are not the individual indebtedness of its [owners].” *Hunting v. Elders*, 359 S.C. 217, 223, 597 S.E.2d 803, 806 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *DeWitt Truck Brokers, Inc. v. W. Ray Flemming Fruit Co.*, 540 F.2d 681, 683 (4th Cir. 1976)).

South Carolina has formally adopted this rule, providing via statute that owners are not liable for the debts or obligations of their entities. *See* S.C. Code §§ 33-6-220, 33-44-303. Because of these protections, corporations and other entities “are often formed for the purpose of shielding [owners] from individual liability.” *Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc.*, 423 S.C. 640, 655, 817 S.E.2d 273, 280 (2018). “[T]here is nothing remotely nefarious in doing” this. *Id.* Likewise, the “[c]reation of affiliated corporations to limit liability while pursuing common goals lies firmly

within the law and is commonplace.” *Id.* at 654 (quoting *SSP Partners v. Gladstrong Invs. (USA) Corp.*, 275 S.W.3d 444, 455 (Tex. 2008)).

Nevertheless, “the South Carolina Supreme Court has ruled that the corporate entity may be disregarded in certain situations.” *Hunting*, 359 S.C. at 223 (citing *Baker v. Equitable Leasing Corp.*, 275 S.C. 359, 271 S.E.2d 596 (1980)). This “doctrine of piercing the corporate veil is not to be applied without substantial reflection,” however, and a corporation typically “will be looked upon as a [separate] legal entity until sufficient reason to the contrary appears.” *Drury Dev. Corp. v. Found. Ins. Co.*, 380 S.C. 97, 101, 668 S.E.2d 798, 800 (2008); *see also DeWitt*, 540 F.2d at 683 (“Th[e] power to pierce the corporate veil . . . is to be exercised reluctantly and cautiously.”) (footnotes omitted).

For this reason, “[c]ourts are generally reluctant to disregard the corporate entity . . . [and] generally [do so] only where equity requires piercing the corporate veil to assist a third party.” *Mid-S. Mgt. Co. Inc. v. Sherwood Dev. Corp.*, 374 S.C. 588, 597, 649 S.E.2d 135, 140 (Ct. App. 2007). Courts should not, for example, hold entities “liable for each other’s obligations merely because of centralized control, mutual purposes, and shared finances.” *Pertuis*, 423 S.C. at 654. Instead, “[t]here must also be evidence of abuse or injustice and inequity,” such as “fraud” or “criminal conduct.” *Id.* at 654–55 (ellipsis omitted) (quoting *SSP Partners*, 275 S.W.3d at 455). Disregarding the corporate form absent such evidence “would seriously compromise . . . a bedrock principle of corporate law—that a legitimate purpose for forming a corporation is to limit individual liability for the corporation’s obligations.” *Id.* at 655 (quoting same).

Because the corporate form is meant to protect the company’s owner, moreover, “piercing of the corporate veil generally will not be permitted for the *benefit* of the parent [company] or its [owners].” *Catawba Indian Tribe v. State of S.C.*, 978 F.2d 1334, 1344 (4th Cir. 1992) (emphasis

added). This follows from another settled principle: companies “may not assume the benefits of the corporate form and then disavow that form when it is to their and their [owners’] advantage.” *Berger v. H.P. Hood, Inc.*, 416 Mass. 652, 658, 624 N.E.2d 947, 950 (1993); *see also Companion Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n*, 2016 WL 6525478, at \*11 (D.S.C. Nov. 3, 2016) (“[U]nder South Carolina law as well as the law of many other jurisdictions, a shareholder may not engage in ‘reverse veil-piercing’ and ignore the corporate entity when it is convenient.”) (citing, *inter alia*, *Carawba*, 978 F.2d at 1344).<sup>4</sup> Thus, once an owner “take[s] advantage of the benefits of dividing the business into separate corporate parts,” “principles of reciprocity require that courts also recognize the separate identities of the enterprises when sued by an injured employee.” *Boggs v. Blue Diamond Coal Co.*, 590 F.2d 655, 662 (6th Cir. 1979).

**B. South Carolina courts respect the corporate form in the worker’s compensation context.**

Consistent with these overarching principles, South Carolina courts have long respected the distinctions between different legal entities in the worker’s compensation context. *See, e.g., Brown v. Moorhead Oil Co.*, 239 S.C. 604, 609, 124 S.E.2d 47, 50 (1962); *Gordon v. Hollywood-Beaufort Package Corp.*, 213 S.C. 438, 444, 49 S.E.2d 718, 720 (1948); *Monroe v. Monsanto Co.*, 531 F. Supp. 426, 434–35 (D.S.C. 1982). *Monroe* is the key authority in this area. There, the court rejected the defendant’s argument that the WCA immunized it from suit based on a *sister entity’s* payment of benefits to the plaintiff. *See* 531 F. Supp. at 431–35.

The court first recognized the general principle that “associated corporations may be estopped [from] deny[ing] their separate existence” once they have “retained whatever benefits may be available to themselves as separate and distinct corporations.” *Id.* at 432. It then identified

---

<sup>4</sup> *See also e.g., Howsden v. Roper’s Real Estate Co.*, 805 N.W.2d 640, 645 (Neb. 2011); *Shelby County v. Barden*, 527 S.W.2d 124, 130 (Tenn. 1975).

“eight important factors” to consider in deciding whether two entities “should be considered as separate and distinct corporations for workmen’s compensation purposes,” *id.* at 433, framing the analysis around eight questions the *Poch* Court would later embrace:

1. Do the two businesses maintain separate corporate identities?
2. Do the two businesses maintain separate Boards of Directors?
3. Do the two businesses transact business from different locations under different managers?
4. Do the two businesses hire and pay their own employees?
5. Do the two corporations hold themselves out to their employees as two separate entities?
6. Do the two corporations engage in different business activities?
7. Do the two corporations maintain separate books, bank accounts and payroll records?
8. Do the two corporations file separate tax returns?

*Id.* at 434; *see also Poch*, 405 S.C. at 372 (the “*Poch* factors”). These factors favored a finding of separation in *Monroe*, so the court permitted the plaintiff’s action against his employer’s sister company despite his receipt of worker’s compensation benefits from his employer. *Monroe*, 531 F. Supp. at 434–35.

The cases from which *Monroe* derived its eight-factor analysis further demonstrate South Carolina courts’ respect for the corporate form in the WCA context. In the earliest of these cases, *Gordon*, the defendant argued it was not required to pay worker’s compensation benefits because, at that time, the WCA exempted employers that manufactured shipping containers, and the defendant’s parent company qualified for the exemption. 213 S.C. at 442. The Supreme Court disagreed. Foreshadowing *Monroe*’s fourth and seventh factors, the Court held that the defendant was “a separate and distinct corporate unit” from its parent because it “hir[ed] its own help, [paid] its own employees, [kept] its own books, [issued] invoices, and [did] other things necessary to

carry on the business.” *Id.* at 444. Furthermore, the two entities “engaged in different business activities” under the sixth factor, *Monroe*, 531 F. Supp. at 433–34, as the subsidiary produced “rotary cut veneer and not [the] finished shipping containers” its parent manufactured. *Gordon*, 213 S.C. at 444.

The Court applied a similar rationale in *Brown*. See 239 S.C. at 609. Because his employer was *not* subject to the WCA, the plaintiff there sued its sister company instead. *Id.* at 606. The Court again rejected the attempt to blur the corporate lines. *Id.* at 609. It recognized that evidence correlating to the first and second factors supported an alter ego finding, as the two entities were “regarded as one big operation,” and one person “owned and generally supervised the[ir] management.” 239 S.C. at 608–09. In addition, some evidence on the seventh factor went in the same direction because “[a]ll of the books for the[] corporations were kept by the same persons in the offices of [the defendant].” *Id.*

The Court nevertheless held that the entities were “separate and distinct.” *Id.* at 609. On balance, the evidence on the seventh factor weighed slightly *against* a finding of alter ego because, apart from “the central bookkeeping arrangement,” “separate books, bank accounts, and payroll records were kept for each” entity. *Id.* at 608. In addition, the third factor indicated separateness because “the business of [the plaintiff’s employer] was transacted from a different location, under a separate manager” than the defendant’s. *Id.* at 608–09. The same was true of the fourth and fifth factors, as the plaintiff “was carried as an employee on [his employer’s] payroll records, and his wages were paid by checks of that corporation.” *Id.* at 608. Finally, once again, the two entities

“were engaged in different business activities” under the sixth factor, “one recapping tires and one distributing petroleum products,” *Monroe*, 531 F. Supp. at 433 (citing *Brown*, 239 S.C. 604).<sup>5</sup>

As both *Gordon* and *Brown* confirmed, “[t]he mere ownership of the capital stock of one corporation by another does not create an identity of corporate interest between the two companies, or . . . alter ego between the two.” *Gordon*, 213 S.C. at 444; accord *Brown*, 239 S.C. at 608. Instead, as in all veil-piercing cases, courts are to “disregard the corporate entity” in the worker’s compensation context only when the equities call for it. *Brown*, 239 S.C. at 610.

**II. *Poch* is the exception, not the rule, and only applies when the operational realities justify it.**

**A. *Poch* provides a limited exception to the general rule against veil piercing.**

*Poch* illustrates one of the rare situations in which veil piercing is warranted to immunize a parent company from suit under the WCA. There, the Supreme Court formally embraced the factors *Monroe* had identified and held that they justified an alter ego finding on the specific facts before it. 405 S.C. at 373–75. As noted, the Court began by accepting the premise that parent companies may be held liable despite a subsidiary’s payment of WCA benefits. *Id.* at 370. But it also recognized an exception to this “general rule” in cases where “the parent is or may be found to be the alter ego of the employer-subsidary corporation.” *Id.* at 370–71. In deciding this question, the Court held that the “correct approach is the one found in *Monroe*” and embraced *Monroe*’s eight-factor test. *Id.* at 371–72.

---

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