THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-CP-10-00838  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001210

---

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 30 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Jacque Lucas, Shirley Ann Lucas,  
and Daniel Simerly,

Appellants,

v.

KapStone Paper and Packaging  
Corporation, KapStone Kraft Paper  
Corporation, Safway Group Holdings,  
LLC, Easy Way Insulation Co., Sypris  
Technologies Inc., Thompson Construction  
Group, Inc., and Thompson Industrial  
Services, LLC, Defendants,

Defendants,

Of which

KapStone Paper and Packaging

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

### **Summary of Argument**

The Supreme Court of South Carolina held in *Poch* that an employer’s tort immunity afforded under the Workers’ Compensation Act (“Act”) is accorded to the employer’s corporate parent where a preponderance of the evidence supports a finding that the two entities were so integrated that they “could be viewed as only one economic entity” for workers’ compensation purposes. *See Poch*, 405 S.C. at 374, 747 S.E.2d at 765 (citing 1 William Meade Fletcher, *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations* § 43.80 (Supp. 2012) (quote omitted)).

Since 1939, South Carolina courts have recognized a legislative intent to extend the Workers’ Compensation Act, whenever possible, beyond the strict limitations of the corporate form. *See Marchbanks v. Duke Power, Co.*, 190 S.C. 336, 2 S.E.2d 825, 835 (1939). This is not “veil piercing,” but the judiciary acting in accordance with the General Assembly to extend the reach of the Act for the benefit of both the employee and employer. This preference toward extending the Act gave rise to both the “statutory employer” inquiry and the *Poch* inquiry, two

doctrines used to expand the reach of the Act to provide no fault coverage for the employee and, correspondingly, tort immunity for the employer.

A *Poch* inquiry is distinct, both in purpose and substance, from the test used to “pierce the corporate veil” for tort liability. Facts required to satisfy one cannot satisfy the other. For example, “veil piercing” requires a showing of fraud or abuse of the corporate form. *See Baker v. Equitable Leasing Corp.*, 275 S.C. 359, 367-68, 271 S.E.2d 596, 600 (1980). A *Poch* inquiry, however, cannot be satisfied if there is any evidence of fraud or abuse of the corporate privilege. *Poch*, 405 S.C. at 371, 747 S.E.2d at 763 (“immunity does not exist where . . . there is evidence of fraud, abuse of corporate privilege, or an attempt to circumvent the law to avoid liability”) (quoting Annotation, *Workers’ Compensation Immunity as Extending to One Owning Controlling Interest in Employer Corporation*, 30 A.L.R. 4<sup>th</sup> 948, § 2 (1984 & Supp. 2013)).

While South Carolina courts discourage “veil piercing” for tort liability,<sup>4</sup> the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that when considering whether the Act should extend beyond the corporate form, “[a]ny doubts as to a worker’s status should be resolved in favor of including him or her under the Workers’ Compensation Act.” *See Poch*, 405 S.C. at 367, 747 S.E.2d at 761. The same preference for extension applies in the case of extending the Act for purposes of establishing tort immunity. *See Olmstead*, 354 S.C. at 427, 581 S.E.2d at 486 (“[B]road construction in favor of coverage . . . is the standard of review for cases in which the workers’ compensation statute is used as a shield to liability under another theory.”). As such, the appropriate standard of review is to resolve any doubts in favor of including parties within the scope of the Act. *See, e.g., Poch* at 367, 747 S.E.2d at 761.

---

<sup>4</sup> *See, e.g., Baker v. Equitable Leasing Corp.*, 275 S.C. 359, 367, 271 S.E.2d 596, 600 (1980); *Drury Dev. Corp. v. Found. Ins. Co.*, 380 S.C. 97, 101, 668 S.E.2d 798, 800 (2008).

The trial court correctly analyzed the record through the lens of *Poch* to reach its conclusion. A preponderance of the evidence shows the KapStone entities were so integrated at the time of the Plaintiffs' injuries that they functioned as a single company for purposes of workers' compensation. Appellants mischaracterize the trial court's analysis to create the illusion that the trial court failed to consider the degree of integration as to each individual defendant's relationship with KapStone Charleston. But the record shows that the trial court performed an appropriate analysis and pointed to an abundance of evidence in support of its finding that the KapStone Defendants were both economically integrated with KapStone Charleston. Regardless, because this is a *de novo* review, this Court must review all of the evidence and reach its own conclusion.

Appellants cite no law that requires a court to bifurcate a *Poch* analysis in a case involving three entities. But even under a bifurcated analysis, each KapStone Defendant was integrated with KapStone Charleston. Under an analysis of the operational reality of the KapStone corporate family from a functional standpoint, the degree of integration becomes even more apparent: KapStone Paper, KapStone Kraft, and KapStone Charleston operated like a single entity engaged in the manufacture, sale, and distribution of kraft paper products. The only way to avoid this conclusion is to disregard transitive logic: if a parent entity "A" (KapStone Paper) is integrated with subsidiary "B" (KapStone Kraft), and subsidiary "B" is integrated with its own subsidiary "C" (KapStone Charleston) then parent "A" is integrated with subsidiary "C." And any variation of this logic results in the same conclusion (if A=B and A=C, then B=C). Regardless of how the Court decides to apply the *Poch* test, it will find that the preponderance of the evidence supports the conclusion that the KapStone entities at issue in this case were integrated under *Poch*.

## Argument

### **I. The trial court correctly applied the *Poch* test in concluding that the KapStone entities were sufficiently integrated such that KapStone Charleston’s tort immunity extended to the KapStone Defendants.**

In *Poch*, the Supreme Court listed “eight factors that courts should consider in determining whether two related businesses are separate and distinct corporations for workers’ compensation purposes.” *See* 405 S.C. at 372, 747 S.E.2d at 764. Where businesses are shown to be integrated under these factors, the Workers’ Compensation Act (“Act”) extends beyond the limitations of the corporate forms of the entities and will provide coverage to employees that would not otherwise receive benefits, *see Mickle v. Boyd Bros. Transp.*, No. 2015-UP-069, 2015 WL 576711 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015), and extend tort immunity to a company that is not the direct employer of the employee. *See Poch*, 405 S.C. at 370-72, 747 S.E.2d at 763-75.

The factors listed in *Poch* inquire:

- (1) Did the two business maintain separate corporate identities?
- (2) Did the two businesses maintain separate Board of Directors?
- (3) Did the two business transact business from different locations under different managers?
- (4) Did the two businesses hire and pay their own employees?
- (5) Did the two corporations hold themselves out to their employees as two separate identities?
- (6) Did the two corporations engage in different business activities?
- (7) Did the two corporations maintain separate books, bank accounts, and payroll records?
- (8) Did the two corporations file separate tax returns?

*Id.* “[N]o one factor is controlling. *Id.* In considering these factors, the court must resolve any doubts in favor of including persons and entities within the scope of the Act. *See id.* at 367, 747 S.E.2d at 761 (citing *Posey v. Proper Mold & Eng’g, Inc.*, 378 S.C. 210, 218-19, 661 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2008)).

Here, the trial court applied the correct standard of review, and assigned appropriate weight to each factor and to the evidence in the record in reaching its conclusion that the KapStone entities were integrated under *Poch*. Appellants incorrectly contend that the trial court’s finding must be overturned because a *Poch* analysis is a form of “veil piercing” that should be discouraged. Appellants also argue that the Court should ignore the first and second factors of the *Poch* test, effectively rewriting the test and disregarding express instruction from the Supreme Court to the contrary. These arguments are addressed in turn.

**A. Extension of the Workers’ Compensation Act under *Poch* is neither “veil piercing” nor discouraged.**

**1. South Carolina Courts have long recognized a legislative intent to extend the scope of the Workers’ Compensation Act.**

Since the earliest iterations of South Carolina’s Workers’ Compensation Act, our Appellate Courts have recognized a legislative intent to extend the scope of the Workers’ Compensation Act beyond corporate boundaries. The standard of review under *Poch* – to resolve any doubts in favor of including both employers and employees within the Act – is premised upon the Supreme Court’s recognition of this legislative intent, and reaches back to the Supreme Court’s holding in *Marchbanks v. Duke Power, Co.*, 190 S.C. 336, 2 S.E.2d 825, 835 (1939).<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> “Compensation laws should be given a liberal construction in furtherance of the beneficent purpose for which they were enacted, and if possible, so as to avoid incongruous or harsh results . . . Does this interpretation of our statute deprive an injured employee of his right to sue for damages under the common law? If the facts bring the case within the terms of the Compensation Act, the employee is restricted to his right of claim for compensation under the Act.”

Historically, the Act has been interpreted broadly both to provide coverage to employees and tort immunity to employers. *See id.* “It is the policy of South Carolina courts to resolve jurisdictional doubts in favor of inclusion of employers and employees under the Workers’ Compensation Act.” *Posey* at 217, 661 S.E.2d at 399. “[B]road construction in favor of coverage” is the standard of review, both in terms of extending benefits to injured persons and when “used to shield [a defendant from] liability under another theory.” *See Olmstead*, 354 S.C. 421, 427, 581 S.E.2d 483, 486 (2003).

South Carolina courts have applied the legislative intent to extend the scope of the Act consistently and without reservation. In *Poch*, the Supreme Court engaged in a three-step analysis to encompass both Bayshore defendants within the Act, despite *neither* being the plaintiffs’ actual employer or the source of workers’ compensation benefits. *See* 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757.

In *Poch*, the plaintiffs were employees of a temp agency, “Job Place.” *See Poch*, at 363, 747 S.E.2d at 759. The plaintiffs had recovered workers’ compensation benefits from Job Place following a workplace accident that occurred while they were performing duties as temporary contract workers for Bayshore Concrete Products/South Carolina, Inc. (“Bayshore SC”). *See id.* Following the accident, the plaintiffs sued Bayshore SC and its corporate parent, Bayshore Concrete Products Corporation (“Bayshore Corp.”). *See id.* The Bayshore defendants moved to dismiss, asserting that they were the “statutory employers” of the plaintiffs and therefore should be accorded Job Place’s workers’ compensation immunity. *See id.*

The *Poch* court performed a three-step analysis to extend workers’ compensation tort immunity to the Bayshore defendants. *See id.* at 366-75, 747 S.E.2d at 761-65. *First*, the court noted that plaintiffs had recovered workers’ compensation benefits from their employer, Job Place. *Id.* As a result, Job Place was immune to tort liability under the Workers’ Compensation Act. *See*

*id.* *Second*, to extend Job Place’s tort immunity to Bayshore SC, the court concluded that plaintiffs were the “statutory employees” of Bayshore SC, since they were performing tasks in the furtherance of Bayshore SC’s business when they were hurt. *See id.* at 368-69, 747 S.E.2d at 761-62. *Third*, to extend Job Place’s tort immunity to Bayshore Corp., the court applied the eight-factor test adopted from *Monroe v. Monsanto Company*, 531 F. Supp. 426 (D.S.C. 1982), to conclude that Bayshore Corp. was so integrated with Bayshore SC that the tort immunity extended to Bayshore SC from Job Place would also extend through Bayshore SC to Bayshore Corp. *See Poch*, at 369-75, 747 S.E.2d at 762-65. The multi-step analysis performed by the Supreme Court in *Poch* demonstrates the ends to which our courts are authorized to go to effectuate the legislative intent to extend the Act beyond the narrow limits of the corporate form, for the benefit of both the employee and the employer.

This Court applied the same broad analysis in *Mickle v. Boyd Bros. Transportation*, which Appellants have failed to address in their brief. In *Mickle*, this Court applied *Poch* to conclude that a plaintiff-employee was covered by a parent corporation’s workers’ compensation policy, despite the plaintiff’s actual employer being statutorily exempt from the Act. *See* No. 2015-UP-068, 2015 WL 576711 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015). There, the plaintiff’s employer, WTI, a subsidiary of defendant Boyd Bros. was found to be sufficiently integrated under *Poch* based solely on the testimony of a single corporate representative. *See id.* at \*2. That testimony provided that the companies had a shared owner, were both involved in trucking, shared a website and were openly related, had a joint dispatch system, provided the same benefits for their employees, and that the parent maintained ultimate control over the operations of its subsidiary. *See id.* Despite the absence of documentary evidence, the *Mickle* court concluded that the entities at issue were sufficiently integrated to be considered one for the purposes of workers compensation. *See id.*

*Mickle* and *Poch* are the only two appellate cases that have applied the eight-factor *Poch* test since it was adopted by the Supreme Court. In each case, the court applied the same broad standard of review applicable here, in recognition of the legislative intent to extend the benefits of the Act beyond the limits of the corporate form when possible. The same standard has similarly been applied in other cases that involved extending the Act under the “statutory employer” test. *See, e.g., Glass v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 325 S.C. 198, 482 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1997) (applying statutory employer test to extend tort immunity to defendant).

Contrary to Appellants’ lead argument, there is no indication in the case law that the extension of the Act is considered by any South Carolina courts to be a form of “veil piercing.” Notably, neither the word “veil” or any iteration of the word “piercing” appears in the *Poch* decision or its dissent by Justice Pleicones, in the *Mickle* decision, or in the line of case law from which the *Poch* test was developed.

## **2. A *Poch* inquiry is wholly distinct from “veil piercing.”**

The *Poch* test is not a form of “veil piercing.” Extension of the Act under *Poch* is distinct, both in purpose and form, from tort-based veil piercing, and it would be error to conflate the two. The elements of the two are irreconcilable. The facts required to pierce the corporate veil will defeat a *Poch* inquiry. Appellants’ argument that the *Poch* test is “veil piercing” is incorrect.

There are three tests in South Carolina that may be used to pierce the corporate veil for purposes of tort liability: (1) traditional “veil piercing”; (2) “alter ego/instrumentality”; and (3) “single business enterprise.” All three tests require the plaintiff to show a fraudulent abuse of the corporate form. *See, respectively, Sturkie v. Sifly*, 280 S.C. 453, 313 S.E.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1984) (“[W]hen the notion of legal entity is used to protect fraud, justify wrong, or defeat public policy, the law will regard the corporation as an association of persons.”); *Colleton County*

*Taxpayers Ass'n v. School Dist. Of Colleton Cnty.*, 371 S.C. 224, 638 S.E.2d 685 (2006) (“[T]his theory [alter-ego/instrumentality] does not apply in the absence of fraud of misuse of control by the dominant entity which results in some injustice.”); *Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc.*, 423 S.C. 640, 654-55, 817 S.E.2d 273, 280-81 (2018) (“Combining multiple corporate entities into a single business enterprise requires further evidence of bad faith, fraud, wrongdoing, or injustice. . .”).

Importantly, the showing of fraud or abuse of the corporate form requisite to pierce the corporate veil would defeat a *Poch* inquiry. See *Poch*, 405 S.C. at 371, 747 S.E.2d at 736 (“[workers compensation] immunity does not extend where . . . there is evidence of fraud, abuse of corporate privilege, or an attempt to circumvent the law to avoid liability”) (quoting Annotation, *Workers’ Compensation Immunity as Extending to One Owning Controlling Interest in Employer Corporation*, 30 A.L.R. 4<sup>th</sup> 948, § 2 (1984 & Supp. 2013)). As such, “veil piercing” and a *Poch*-based extension of the Workers’ Compensation Act cannot coexist under the same facts.

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